. . .

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### AMANDA J. (GRESSEL) BERMUDEZ SCHMIDT :

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

F1 FS-00765 CAUSE NO.: 2006-

**BRIAN S. BERMUDEZ** 

APPELLEE

FILED

FEB 2 8 2007 OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

## **BRIEF FOR APPELLANT**

Joe Morgan Wilson Attorney for Appellee 210 West Main Street Senatobia, Mississippi 38668 (662) 562-4477 MSB #

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMANDA J. (GRESSEL) BERMUDEZ SCHMIDT : APPELLANT

CAUSE NO.: 2006-TS-00765

APPELLEE

**BRIAN S. BERMUDEZ** 

VS.

#### **CERTIFICATES OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

The parties to this action were divorced on the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of February, 2004. There was one child born to the parties, Colson Bermudez, born September 4, 2001. In August 2004 the Appellee sought to have the Appellant held in contempt of court, since she had previously filed precedings against him in the State of Tennessee for a Temporary Restraining Order and Restriction Of Visitation. Several hearings were scheduled for September 2, 2004, October 14, 2004 and finally December 6, 2004. At that hearing the Court appointed as psychologist, Dr Wyatt Nichols and as guardian ad litem Stephen Bailey were appointed and temporary visitation was set up.

There were several hearings scheduled during 2005 concerning visitation and exchange of the child all of which were resolved without the necessity of a hearing. It was hoped to have the case heard during the calendar year of 2005 but unfortunately the Appellant's pregnancy and inability to travel prevented that from happening, and the matter was re-set for January 2006, but the Court had a conflict and it was ultimately and finally scheduled to be heard March 27<sup>th</sup>. The hearings lasted the entire week and the Chancellor rendered his opinion on Friday, March 31, 2006.

The Court found that there was a material change in circumstances adverse to the parties' minor child necessitating a change in custody from the Appellant to the Appellee. He did not allow visitation for the Appellant but instructed her to present a petition before him with a person who he would accept for them to allow visitation within the State of Mississippi. The Appellant sought an appeal due to the Chancellor's bias toward her from the very beginning of the proceeding and her failure to get a fair hearing before him. She prosecutes this appeal in the hopes of having her child returned to her.

### ARGUMENT

Ι

## THE CHANCELLOR WAS IN ERROR FOR FAILING TO RELINQUISH JURISDICTION TO TENNESSEE, WHICH WAS THE HOME STATE OF THE CHILD

The Appellant would show this Court on the 2<sup>nd</sup> day of September 2004 that her Response To Petition To Modify and Petition For an Order Relinquishing Jurisdiction To the Circuit Court of The Thirtieth Judicial District at Memphis (RE-94) was filed asking the Chancery Court of Marshall County, Mississippi to relinquish jurisdiction from the original state of Mississippi to that of Shelby County, Tennessee. Under §93-23-5 of the 1972 Mississippi Code, Annotated as Amended the jurisdiction portion of the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction Act which determines which state is competent to decide such child custody matters is as follows:

(1) A court of this state which is competent to decide child custody matters has jurisdiction to make a child custody determination by initial or modification decree if:

(a) This state (i) is the home state of the child at the time of commencement of the proceeding, or (ii) had been the child's home state within six (6) months before commencement of the proceeding and the child is absent from this state because of his removal or retention by a person claiming his custody or for other reasons, and a parent or person acting as parent continues to live in this state; or

(b) It is in the best interest of the child that a court of this state assume jurisdiction because (i) the child and his parents, or the child and at least one (1) contestant, have a significant connection with the state, and (ii) there is available in this state substantial evidence concerning the child's present or future care, protection, training and personal relationships; or . . .

(d)(i) It appears that no other state would have jurisdiction under prerequisites substantially in accordance with paragraphs (a), (b) or (c), or another state has declined to exercise jurisdiction on the ground that this state is the more appropriate forum to determine the custody of the child, and (ii) it is in the best interest of the child that this court assume jurisdiction. This case originally was heard before the Chancery Court of Marshall County, Mississippi and a decree entered on February 2, 2004 granting a Decree of Divorce to the parties on the grounds of Irreconcilable Differences(RE-67). Prior to that date however, both parties had moved from the state of Mississippi, the Appellant in May, 2003 and the Appellee in October 2003 (Tr-3). Neither party had been a resident of the state of Mississippi for a year at the time this preceding was begun. The child was living in Tennessee with the Appellant and under §93-23-5 (a) this state was not the home state of the child at the time the preceding began, nor had it been the home state for more than six months prior to that.

It appears that §93-23-5 (b) grants another alternative when it indicates:

It is in the best interest of the child that a court of this state assume jurisdiction because (i) the child and his parents, or the child and at least one (1) contestant, have a significant connection with the state, <u>and</u> (ii) there is available in this state substantial evidence concerning the child's present or future care, protection, training and personal relationships

On August 24, 2004 the Appellant filed her Petition To Register Order For Enforcement, For Modification, And For Restraining Order and Permanent Injunctive Relief against the Appellee with the Circuit Court Of Tennessee For The Thirtieth Judicial District At Memphis (RE 100). The allegations in the Tennessee petition were that the evidence and the witnesses were all in Tennessee and the Appellee has set forth no evidence that indicated a reason for this case to remain in Mississippi other than that he wanted it to remain there.

Finally, §93-23-5 (d)(i) indicates that:

no other state would have jurisdiction under prerequisites substantially in accordance with paragraphs (a), (b) or (c), or another state has declined to exercise jurisdiction on the ground that this state is the more appropriate forum to determine the custody of the child, and (ii) it is in the best interest of the child that this court assume jurisdiction.

It is not available to us for the record the conversation that the Chancellor had with Judge

John McCarrol of the Tennessee Circuit Court, but it does appear from the available orders and the many comments of the Chancellor that he wanted to keep the case, and apparently Judge McCarroll did not argue with him. The Appellant submits that such is not the law, and because this Chancellor wanted to keep the case does not satisfy the requirements of §93-23-5 of our Mississippi Code Annotated as amended.

... But I'm going to look at this thing, I know what the law is. I'm well familiar with the law. And if it was just modification I would have already transferred it. But there's more issues to it than that. (Tr-19)

#### ARGUMENT II

## THE CHANCELLOR ERRED IN SHOWING AN EXTREME BIAS TOWARD THE APPELLANT

The Chancellor from the beginning showed a pre-disposition against the Appellant by believing she and her husband were guilty of perjury: prior to the beginning of the trial and prior to the current attorney's involvement, there was a hearing on October 14, 2004. Although no testimony was given there was interaction between the court and the two respective attorneys as follows:

The Court: - - Well, let me tell you what troubles me. I remember this case and I remember a doctor, he is in this courtroom today. He took the witness stand and denied emphatically under oath that he was having an affair with your client. He is now married to her. That's perjury. This thing has really got me concerned. And I'm telling you lawyers now, I'm not rendering an opinion today. I'm going to have the court reporter to transcribe some of these hearings, and my main concern is the welfare of this child and the environment this child is in. If this child - - if this child is in the home of somebody that takes an oath and perjures themselves that child shouldn't be there. I'm going to look at it and I'm going to look and see, and if I determine it has been then I'm going to turn it over to the grand jury. But I'm going to look at this thing, I know what the law is. I'm well familiar with the law. And if it was just modification I would have already transferred it. But there's more

issues to it than that. (Tr 18-19)

The Court, after dialogue between the two attorneys further said:

THE COURT: I'm just concerned - - I'm just concerned as to whether or not the people have been playing with this court.

MR. ZUMACH: I can - - I can absolutely say that I won't ever let a client play with this court.

THE COURT: Well, I know a doctor that lied to this court, in my opinion, and I'm going to look at it

MR. ZUMACH: Yes, your honor.

THE COURT: And that has really got me disturbed.

(Tr 22)

THE COURT: ... I'm going to make my ruling, when I make my ruling, if I retain the jurisdiction, I will address it at that time. If she has wrongfully withheld him she might have visitation.

#### (Tr 24)

The Appellant would further show that on the first day of trial, approximately one and one

half years later, which was March 27, 2006 the following took place:

Q: And shortly thereafter you moved in with Dr. Schmidt?

A: It wasn't shortly after that.

Q: Well, when was it?

A: We moved in into a house in March of '05.

Q: You didn't move into together in March of 2004?

A: (No audible response.)

MS. LIDDY:	May I approach?
THE COURT:	Yes, ma'am.
MS. LIDDY:	May I have this marked as an exhibit for identification?
THE COURT:	Well, let's identify it first. And Mrs. Schmidt
A: That's correct, it's	2004.

THE COURT: Mrs. Schmidt?

THE WITNESS:	Yes, sir.
THE COURT:	You listen to me, I want you to hear me. You committed perjury in this court and your now husband committed perjury in this court. Now, if you commit perjury during in this trial you are going to leave this courtroom in handcuffs, do you understand me?
THE WITNESS:	Yes, sir.
THE COURT:	You've lied to this Court before. Now, she just asked you when did you move in with Dr. Schmidt, and you said March of 2005, and she said wasn't it 2004. Now, let me tell you, your memory is not that bad. So don't you wait and you let me finish. Now, don't you start playing games with this Court, you have lied to this Court for the last time. I'm giving you fair warning. Now, go forward. (Tr 36-37

The Court claimed that the Appellant committed perjury during a hearing which was not transcribed, and there is no record that the Court in the one and one half years since ever chose to have such testimony transcribed. If he had wished to charge her with perjury then he could and should have done so, and she would have had the opportunity to defend herself. Since he did not charge her with perjury he could continue to allege that she had committed perjury with no opportunity whatsoever for the Appellant to defend herself, since he gave her no opportunity to do so either in his court or in the Circuit Court of Marshall County, Mississippi.

The Court returned to the issue as follows:

THE COURT:	Well, let me ask you something. In one of the hearings before this Court when you brought Dr. Schmidt down to testify, and it was testified as to y'all calling each other so much on your cell phones, as much as 20 to 30 times in one day, do you remember that?
THE WITNESS: THE COURT:	Yes, sir, I do. All hours of the day and night. And your testimony at that time your testimony and his testimony, you were just friends and you was leaning on his

	shoulder. Was that the truth then or not?
THE WITNESS:	It was the truth, your Honor. We started we did
	start dating in July 2003 before the divorce was final.
	And I admitted that in the discovery.
THE COURT:	Later you did. But on the stand, I'm talking about
	when you was on the stand, and if I have to
	transcribe it I will transcribe it. You testified you
	were friends.
THE WITNESS:	Correct.
THE COURT:	All right. Go ahead.
	(Tr 38)

The Court continued to believe that she was a liar from the hearing of October 14, 2004 up to and including the hearing beginning March 27, 2006, yet he never had the hearing transcribed, which he could have easily had done by his own court reporter. She has transcribed all of the hearings thus far, yet he did not have her transcribe it, although he had numerous opportunities to do so. Still, the Chancellor treated the Appellant throughout the hearing as at best a liar, and at other times, more or less, a lunatic.

The Court interjected numerous times as follows:

THE COURT:	Do you expect me to believe that:
THE WITNESS:	Yes, sir
THE COURT:	Well, I'm going to be honest with you, in reading the file it appears to me that you have schemed every way you can to keep this child away from the father from the very beginning up to this present date.
THE WITNESS:	No. sir.
THE COURT:	Well, you are not helping yourself unless you can give me a better answer than what you just gave me.

(Tr 50-51)

Further the Court questioned:

THE COURT:	Why a psychologist for a three-year-old child?
------------	--

THE WITNESS:	I'm not sure that was just her recommendation.
THE COURT:	It sounds like she needs a psychologist. Go ahead.
	(Tr 63-64)

## Further:

THE COURT:	Do you have a pediatrician that is going to testify as to the abuse of your son?
THE WITNESS:	No, a psychologist.
THE COURT:	Well, they are a dime a dozen some of them, some of them are good. Do you have a pediatrician?
THE WITNESS:	No, sir. Mostly the bruises and everything has been come to a halt since we have been in court. The direct words from Brian's mouth to me was, I know how it hurt you, the bruises
THE COURT:	Well, you know, I didn't ask you that. You are letting your mouth run away. I wish you would answer the questions I asked you. I'm wanting to know about medical proof. Do you have any? I'm concerned about this child.
THE WITNESS:	I have I have
THE COURT:	Because if this child. Just a moment. I'm concerned, if this man has been abusing this child I will stop him seeing this child, because this is a baby and this baby is not going to be abused. But if you've got fantasies in your head about the abuse you've got a problem. (Tr 81-82)
Further:	
THE COURT:	Well, you aren't prepared for this trial then if you have not got that information with you. Go ahead. I will take it that you denied it. Go ahead.

(Tr 90)

Further the Court continued to be abusive with the Appellant and basically cross examined

her:

THE COURT:	Now, you listen to me for a minute. I've got to make a decision on the welfare of this child, and when you
	say "I'm not sure" I'm taking it as no.
THE WITNESS:	Okay.
THE COURT:	Now, then, this is 2006, you know. Now, then, you can either testify or not testify. Now, then, answer
	her question if you can.
	(Tr 91)

.

When the Appellant testified as to her financial vulnerability:

THE WITNESS:	I don't have the money to fly him to and from three-round trip tickets every single month for visitation.
THE COURT:	Did you think about that when you moved to, where is it Colorado?
THE WITNESS:	No, sir, I didn't because I expected to work. And then when we moved shortly thereafter I got pregnant and was very sick with the pregnancy. And now
THE COURT:	Well, did you address the Court, have you petitioned the Court and tell the Court that you was financially not able to do it?
THE WITNESS:	I thought we had petitioned the Court that I was not financially able to do it. And I thought my attorney did file the petition.
THE COURT:	The thing that troubles me, is you have been doctor, and you have been judge through this whole ordeal.
THE WITNESS:	I'm sorry, sir.
THE COURT:	You have been playing the role as judge and doctor. You have been diagnosing the injury, so-called injury to your son, but yet yet you have no doctors here to testify. You have been interpreting the judge's orders to your satisfaction.
THE WITNESS:	Your Honor, I'm doing I'm doing to the best of my ability to get this child the help that he needs, and the visitation with his father that can be afforded.
THE COURT:	But you are not respecting the Court orders and never have. That's what is troubling to me. Why?
THE WITNESS: THE COURT:	I'm very concerned about my son. I'm very concerned about you. I'm going to be

honest with you, I really am.

(Tr 94-95)

#### Further:

THE COURT:	Lady, something is wrong. I have seen something is
	wrong with you.
	(Tr 96)

Additionally:

THE COURT: THE WITNESS:	How old is this child? Three, he was three-and-a-half at the time. He took the headboard of his bed and banging his head on it - - and I was 17 approximately weeks pregnant at the time banging his head, hitting me, throwing things at me, uncontrollable. And she had told me if that happened take him to the emergency room, so I did exactly what she suggested. I took him to the emergency room, on the way to the emergency room I had to pull over the car, because the child was in the back seat trying to choke himself with the seat belt.
THE COURT:	It appears you have a very disturbed young man.
THE WITNESS:	He is, and he needs some help. And that's what I'm trying do.
THE COURT:	Well, he's been living with you all this time.
	(Tr 100-101)

- Q And you are saying that his post-traumatic stress disorder is because of Mr. Bermudez?
- A Yes.
- Q Has nothing to do with you moving him hundreds of miles away to Colorado ripping him away from his father and extended family?
- A No. Because his behavior problems started before we moved, and the abuse started before we moved.
- THE COURT: Well, just a moment. Why under God's green earth did you ever sign that Separation Agreement and that Property Settlement Agreement and that Child Custody Agreement and that Visitation Agreement if

	all of this was happening? Why?
THE WITNESS:	Your Honor, I regret that every single day.
THE COURT:	I didn't ask you, I asked you why?
THE WITNESS:	I wanted I was afraid for my whole life.
THE COURT:	You wanted out of a marriage to marry your sweetie and get out of dodge, and that's what it boiled down to.
THE WITNESS:	No, sir. I did not.
	(Tr 112)

And once again the Court assumed facts never presented into evidence, never testified to in any hearing as his theory of why she divorced the Appellee and accepted the Property Settlement Agreement and Child Custody Agreement.

The Judge further berated and insulted the Appellant as follows:

THE COURT:	Lady, Lady, you get diarrhea of the mouth when I ask you a simple question. Now, then, tell me in simple terms why you signed that agreement, knowing that this man had all of those propensities, why did you sign it?
THE WITNESS:	I just wanted out.
THE COURT:	So he was that bad, and so you are telling the Court that you are willing to sacrifice the sanity and the safety of your child to this brutal beast to get out of that situation, is that what you are telling the Court? Go ahead.
	(Tr 113)

He gave her no further opportunity to respond to his accusations.

Again, later in her testimony:

THE COURT: THE WITNESS:	What do you mean by that? I mean that when he is with them he knows how not to behave and how not to get in trouble, so he's like a little puppet, a toy soldier over there.
THE COURT:	How do you know that?
THE WITNESS:	Because the psychologist in the hospital and the psychiatrist have told me that. When he goes there he can pull it together and hold it together until he comes home and let's it all out, because he's been

holding it in for so long.

THE COURT:	I think you've got a psychologist with a yo-yo head.
	Go ahead.

(Tr 102-121)

The Court further commented on the witness when:

n, I'm worried about my son.
er.
or again.
to his doctors.

(Tr 126)

Again:

THE COURT:	Well, tell me what makes you suspect sexual abuse?
THE WITNESS:	Well, I don't suspect necessarily sexual abuse.
THE COURT:	Well, you said he could could happen.
THE WITNESS:	Well, anything could happen, but, you know, he said, I want to get in the bed with you naked like I do with my daddy. He said that to Ginger Giles.
THE COURT:	I think you are sick right now, the way you are doing.

(Tr 131)

Further when the Court was questioning the Appellant about allowing her mother, who was an alcoholic to keep the child during the day time she states:

THE WITNESS:	I know. I I trust my mother because I know her,
	and I know that I'm going to get Colson before it's
	her time. She drinks at night.
THE COURT:	You hope you get him. Go ahead.
	·

(Tr 144)

Further the Court stated:

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