### IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

AMANDA J. (GRESSEL) BERMUDEZ SCHMIDT

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO: 2006-CA-00765

**BRIAN S. BERMUDEZ** 

**APPELLEE** 

### BRIEF OF APPELLEE, BRIAN S. BERUMUDEZ

### ON APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF MARSHALL COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

(ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED)

#### SUBMITTED BY:

JUSTIN S. CLUCK, MSB #
SMITH WHALEY, P.L.L.C.
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE
Post Office Drawer 849
Holly Springs, Mississippi 38635
Telephone: (662) 252-3003
Facsimile: (662) 252-3006

SARAH J. LIDDY, MSB # ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE
Post Office Box 40
Olive Branch, Mississippi 38654
Telephone: (662) 890-9394
Facsimile: (662) 890-9880

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

The first step of the analysis requires the court to determine whether it has the authority to act on the action at hand pursuant to the UCCJEA and M.C.A. § 93-27-207. Under the UCCJEA and M.C.A. § 93-27-201, special jurisdictional rules are applied to child custody matters. Traditionally three elements are necessary to create proper jurisdiction: (1) subject matter jurisdiction; (2) personal jurisdiction; and (3) proper service of process. However, the UCCJEA does not require personal jurisdiction when determining jurisdiction. For custody issues service of process must only be "reasonably calculated to give actual notice" to any person entitled to notice or if the party submits to the jurisdiction of the court. Neither of these factors is contested. The only issue

regarding jurisdiction is whether the Marshall County Chancery Court properly exercised subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to the UCCJEA which governs child custody matters.

The UCCJEA creates an interstate enforcement mechanism applying initial child custody actions and modifications of child custody actions. The home state of the child and the state where the child resided with a parent or legal guardian for at least six consecutive months preceding the action, is given priority over subject matter jurisdiction for matters concerning child custody. Deborah H. Bell, *Bell on Mississippi Family Law*, § 18.05. However, if the home state declines to exercise jurisdiction, a court in a state with significant connections to the matter can exercise subject matter jurisdiction if significant connections exist between the child and the state. *Id.* at § 18.05(1). *See also* M.C.A. § 93-27-204(1)(b) (2004).

This Court interpreted the Uniform Child Custody Judgment Act (which was replaced by the UCCJEA) in *Ortega* as providing concurrent jurisdiction, not mutually exclusive jurisdiction. Typically, the two states sharing concurrent jurisdiction will be the state issuing the original divorce or custody decree, and the state where the custodial parent and children have moved." *Ortega*, 725 So.2d at 201. However, a court can decline its continuing jurisdiction over a child custody matter arising from a divorce decree entered by that court if there is a more convenient forum. *Id* (citing *Jones v. Starr*, 586 So.2d at 790). *See also* M.C.A. § 93-27-207 (2004).

Tennessee was the home state of Colson since he and Amanda Schmidt lived in Shelby County for more than six months preceding the commencement of this action. However, Chancellor Alderson conferred with the Tennessee Circuit Judge, John McCarroll, who agreed the most appropriate forum was Mississippi:

"I conferred with the judge in Tennessee and he agreed that it was a Mississippi case and it would remain in Mississippi."

(R.E. - 000147-148).

M.C.A. § 93-27-201(c) states:

All courts having jurisdiction under paragraph (a) or (b) of this subsection have declined to exercise jurisdiction on the ground that a court of this state is the more appropriate forum to determine the custody of the child under Section 93-27-207 or 93-27-208; or no other state would have jurisdiction under the criteria specified

M.C.A. § 93-27-201(c) permits the state issuing the initial decree to assume jurisdiction.

As Tennessee declined jurisdiction over this case, jurisdiction was proper in the Chancery

Court of Marshall County, Mississippi.

Amanda Schmidt does not argue that Mississippi is not the most convenient forum so she has conceded to the convenience of the Marshall County Chancery Court in Mississippi. Deciding he had proper jurisdiction, Chancellor Alderson appropriately allowed the action to commence in his court, properly refusing to relinquish the matter to a foreign court. In light of the foregoing reasons, the chancellor did not abuse his discretion nor commit a manifest error in assuming jurisdiction.

Furthermore, at the time of this appeal, Colson has resided with Brian Bermudez in Mississippi for more than a year. If this Court remands this issue for lack of jurisdiction, then the Chancery Court of Marshall County may exercise jurisdiction over the parties in such instance. This lack of jurisdiction argument would therefore be moot.

### C. The Chancellor did not show an Extreme Bias toward Amanda Schmidt

1. The Chancellor did not treat Amanda Schmidt in a Manner Contrary to Judicial Custom

Comments on the evidence before a juror are treated differently from comments made during a bench trial. *Moore v. Moore*, 558 So.2d 834, 839 (Miss.1990). In contempt proceedings, a chancellor sits as both judge and jury. *Id.* He is to weigh the credibility and demeanor of the witnesses while listening to the evidence. *Id.* In contempt proceedings, the chancellor does not have to express his feelings "in a manner pleasing and delightful to the parties' ears." *Id.* at 840. A chancellor must only fulfill his duty by hearing all the evidence and rendering his final opinion at the conclusion of the hearing. *Id.* 

Furthermore, it is the responsibility of the attorneys to object when the chancellor makes comments which allegedly exhibit bias towards a witness. *Dorrough v. Wilkes*, 817 So.2d 567, 577 (Miss.2002) (quoting *Walker v. State*, 671 So.2d 581, 597 (Miss.1995); *Hill v. State*, 432 So.2d 427, 439 (Miss.1983)). "If no contemporaneous objections are made then "the error, if any, is waived." *Id*.

In *Moore*, 558 So.2d 834, a wife filed a complaint against a husband for failure to abide by the divorce decree. The chancellor made comments regarding the husband's contempt of a previous order issued by that chancellor. The husband appealed citing comments made by the chancellor as error. The Mississippi Supreme Court determined no reversible error was found where no contemporaneous objections were made. *Id.* at 839.

Although Amanda Schmidt devotes a large amount of her appeal to this issue, her counsel failed to make any objections that pertained to the conduct or character of the chancellor's statements toward her at any point during the trial. However, upon appeal, Amanda Schmidt now claims bias regarding an opinion the chancellor allegedly formed

stemming from interactions during the divorce proceedings, which occurred three years prior to the current action. This appeal is the first mention of any biased actions toward Amanda Schmidt.

By allowing such an argument, the court should be aware of an attempt to "sandbag" the issue for the chance of getting an appellate reversal. *Id.* at 838. For these reasons this issue was not preserved for appeal and is not properly before this court.

### 2. Amanda Schmidt Failed to Move for Recusal

Amanda Schmidt next argues that the chancellor should have disqualified himself from the case pursuant to obligations under the Canons of Judicial Conduct due to the fact that he was biased toward the parties.

In McCune v. Commercial Pub. Co., 148 Miss. 164 at 172, 114 So. 268 at 279, (Miss.1927), the court stated:

Courts are not to be trifled with in such matters. Judges do not have any desire to sit in cases where they are disqualified for any reason, and it is only fair that notice be given the judge of any such disqualification before he hears the case so that he may recuse himself. Any other rule might result in an unfair advantage being taken in a case where an attorney, who moves against a judge, might wait until after he could ascertain whether the decision would be for or against him; and, if against him, he would file a motion to recuse, but if for him, he would accept it without complaint.

A number of jurisdictions have indicated that an objection to a judge cannot be raised on appeal if there was no assertion for disqualifying the judge before the appeal. 73A.L.R.2d 1238 § 3. If not raised in a timely manner, then a motion to disqualify a judge based on bias will be waived. *Yazoo & Mississippi Valley R.R. v. Kirk*, 58 So. 710 (Miss. 1912). Consent to waiving this right will be conclusively presumed upon a final judgment. *Id*.

A judge should disqualify himself if he acquires knowledge underlying the cause of action. However, knowledge relating to the credibility of a witness is not sufficient to warrant disqualification of a judge. 32 Am. Jur. 2d Federal Courts § 93. Furthermore, disqualification is required only for knowledge of matters underlying the cause of action, not knowledge of matters relating to credibility. 73A.L.R.2d 1238 § 3. Thus, allegations that a judge may be more disposed to believe in the credibility of one side's witnesses over others does not establish that the judge has personal knowledge of disputed evidentiary facts within the meaning of the statute. *Id*.

In City of Biloxi v. Cawley, 332 So.2d 749 (Miss.1996), the chancellor made a comment before the case was tried that evidenced bias toward a party of the case. However, the aggrieved party did not file a motion suggesting the chancellor recuse himself until after the final decree was entered. Id. at 750. The Mississippi Supreme Court determined that the chancellor could not be held as having any bias towards one of the parties. Id. Furthermore, the Court determined that the party who accused the chancellor of being biased "elected" to proceed to trial without suggesting the recusal; therefore that party is bound by its "election." Id.

Failure by aggrieved party to move for recusal in a seasonable fashion prevents the Appellant from raising this issue for the first time on appeal. Furthermore, the appropriate forum for making such allegations against the chancellor would be the Mississippi Committee on Judicial Performance, not in the body of an appeal brief. Accordingly, this argument is without merit.

# D. The Chancellor did not err when Refusing to Qualify Schmidt's Witness as an Expert

Schmidt contends that the court's refusal to qualify Dr. Michelle Kelly as an expert while permitting her, as a lay witness, to present opinion testimony is reversible error. During Dr. Kelly's testimony, the only objection made by Amanda Schmidt regarding her testimony concerned facts not introduced into evidence of actions by Bermudez during the marriage. (R.E. – 000116).

Foremost, lack of a contemporaneous objection to testimony at trial will procedurally bar the issue on appeal. *Brown v. State*, 890 So.2d 901, 915 (Miss.2004).

Further, the qualification of an expert witness is left to the sole discretion of the chancellor. Couch v. City of D'Iberville, 656 So.2d 146, 152 (Miss.1995); Sheffield v. Goodwin, 740 So.2d 854, 857 (Miss.1999); Seal v. Miller, 605 So.2d 240, 243 (Miss.1992); Hall v. State, 611 So.2d 915, 918 (Miss.1993); Wade v. State, 583 So.2d 965, 967 (Miss.1991). If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue; a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise. M.R.E. 702. However, it is the responsibility of the trial court to determine whether the expert testimony is relevant and reliable. M.R.E. 702 comment (May 29, 2003).

An appellate court's review of a trial court's exclusion of expert testimony is limited to the clearly erroneous standard. *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322, 342 (Miss.1999). An appellate court cannot reverse a trial judge's ruling unless its judicial discretion has been abused. *Hall*, 611 So.2d at 918 (citing *Lewis v. State*, 573 So.2d 719, 722 (Miss.1990)).

For a case to be reversed on the admission of such expert evidence, "it must result in prejudice and harm or adversely affect a substantial right of a party." *K-Mart Corp. v. Hardy*, 735 So.2d at 983 (citing *Hansen v. State*, 592 So.2d 114 (Miss.1991)). "To apply the harmless error analysis ... this Court must determine whether the weight of the evidence against [the defendant] is sufficient to outweigh the harm done by allowing admission of [the] evidence." *Fuselier v. State*, 702 So.2d 388, 391 (Miss.1997). Even if the chancellor errs, it is harmless error if there is no indication that admitting the evidence would change the outcome of the case. *Rogers v. Morin*, 791 So.2d 815, 824 (Miss.2001).

Dr. Kelly presented testimony at trial based upon her personal knowledge and personal observations of the minor child.

### At trial, Dr. Kelly testified to her:

- The Witness: ... And then the grandfather said, "Did you move far, far away?" And he doesn't answer. Which to me is probably the best example in the whole group of them, is this is something that is really difficult for this young child to do deal with. I mean, he's three years old, yeah, he's moved far away, but I'm here right now. I mean this pulling back and forth, you love your daddy, your mommy. I mean it's too much to put on the child and he can't handle it.
- Q: Now, I believe you stated earlier that his mother is his psychological parent, what do you mean by that?
- Well, I mean children can be raised by all sorts of people, grandparents, aunts, an uncle is like a parent, and psychological parent is the parent they go to for their sense of self, security, their basis, the one that's been there you know, through thick and thin. And his mother has been that person for him throughout his life. I mean, when he was younger, this is based on mom's report, but father worked at night. Currently, it's my understanding he works two jobs, I could be wrong about that, but that is my understanding. And he is just often has not been there. And, you know, that's not unusual, in many cases with parents, one parent is working and not there but the mother has always been there. And she is a stay-at-home mom, and that's where Colson gets his basic

sense of self and, you know, in the first three or three-and-a-half years of his life is, you know, really important for a child to have that sense of self, and as they start to explore and go out into the world. They will turn and look, you know, where is mom, can they go back and find her there. And the - - the mom that is - - is there, the lap to sit on, but she is there and she is available, and this is the psychological parent that has always been mom.

(R.E. - 000112-114)

### Later in her testimony:

- Q What do you think Colson needs for the future?
- Well, I think he needs both parents. I think he needs one primary home residence where he is living the majority of the time. I think that he needs to be with his mother as his psychological parent. And I think the visits to dad, to his father, needs to be a shorter duration. That he needs to be in school, have his time there, and then on breaks come for, say, two weeks return break two weeks. Have open access for daddy to come to Colorado and spend time with him, go to school activities, watch his sports. I think there needs to be, you know, open communication with phone calls. And this is a logistic thing, but I think it needs to be real clear what the dates of his visits are. There has been a lot of conclusion about when he goes, waiting until the last minute to get it set up.

(R.E. - 000115)

Amanda Schmidt maintains that Dr. Kelly, as a lay witness, was not permitted to give opinion testimony and this is reversible error. It is apparent that the witness presented fact testimony and opinion testimony pertaining to the ultimate issue as decided by the trier of fact. M.R.E. 704. For this reason, the chancellor did not err in not permitting Dr. Kelly to testify as an expert witness. Furthermore, the opinion testimony offered by Dr. Kelly pertained to the ultimate issue and is not objectionable. However, if the chancellor erred by failing to qualify Dr. Kelly as an expert then harmless error occurred since her testimony remained intact and the outcome of the case would not have changed. Amanda Schmidt's failure to raise objections to these issues during Dr. Kelly's testimony should procedurally bar this issue from being appealed.

### E. The Court Appointed Expert did not have a Conflict of Interest

Amanda Schmidt contends that Dr. Nichols, the court appointed psychologist, was never properly informed of his duties and that the expert had a conflict of interest. In the case *sub judice*, neither counsel objected to Dr. Nichol's qualification as an expert witness. (R.E. – 000135). Dr. Nichols presented a fair recommendation to the court based upon nine (9) sessions with Colson, and several sessions with each of the parents. This error by the court was harmless if there is no indication that the outcome of the case would change if the instructions had been filed with the clerk pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Evidence 706. *Rogers*, 791 So.2d at 824. Accordingly, this argument is also without merit.

### F. The Guardian Ad Litem's Investigation was Thorough and Complete

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